# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

# RECEIVED

08-22-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 18 AP 839 CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

LONNIE P. AYOTTE, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

# ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON DECEMBER 15, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARQUETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE BERNARD BULT PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

LONNIE P. AYOTTE, JR., Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

- BY: TEUTA JONUZI State Bar No. 1098168

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN IT HELD THE WARRANTLESS ANALYSIS OF MR. AYOTTE'S BLOOD WAS LAWFUL, WHEN MR. AYOTTE HAD WITHDRAWN HIS CONSENT PRIOR TO THE SEARCH BEING COMPLETED?

### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 12, 2016, a deputy with the Marquette County Sheriff's Department arrested Mr. Ayotte for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration.<sup>1</sup> After the deputy read Mr. Ayotte the Informing the Accused form, Mr. Ayotte submitted to the blood draw.<sup>2</sup> A medical technician drew Mr. Ayotte's blood.<sup>3</sup> The deputy then packaged and mailed the samples to the State Crime Laboratory.<sup>4</sup>

On April 20, 2016, Mr. Ayotte sent a letter to the State Crime Laboratory "asserting his right to privacy in his blood and requests that no analysis be run without a warrant authorizing so[.]"<sup>5</sup> The arresting law enforcement agency and the District Attorney's office also received a copy of Mr. Ayotte's letter.<sup>6</sup> On April 28, 2016, the laboratory disregarded Mr. Ayotte's letter and analyzed the sample.<sup>7</sup> It issued a report, showing a blood alcohol concentration of .032 g/mL.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> R.71 at 85–86; R.46.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  R.71 at 88; R.47. Mr. Ayotte was subject to a 0.02 prohibited alcohol concentration because of three prior OWI convictions. *See* Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m)(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> R.71 at 90; R.47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> R.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R.17.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  R.71 at 112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> R.71 at 119.

On May 25, 2016, the Marquette County District Attorney's Office charged Mr. Ayotte with operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, fourth offense.<sup>9</sup> Because the laboratory's analysis of his blood after the revocation of his consent was unlawful, Mr. Ayotte moved to suppress the test result.<sup>10</sup> Mr. Ayotte also moved to suppress all evidence derived from the extension of the traffic stop and his subsequent arrest.<sup>11</sup>

On October 4, 2016, the circuit court, the honorable Bernard Bult presiding, asked both sides to brief the issue of withdrawing consent to testing.<sup>12</sup>

On December 30, 2016, the State filed its briefs.<sup>13</sup> The State argued that in attempting to withdraw his consent, Mr. Ayotte attempted to parse out the analysis of the blood from its seizure.<sup>14</sup>

On January 6, 2017, Mr. Ayotte filed his briefs.<sup>15</sup> He argued the issue of withdrawing consent was analogous to the search of a lawfully-seized cell phone under *Riley v. California*.<sup>16</sup> In *Riley*, the Supreme Court ruled that the police must have obtained a warrant to

<sup>15</sup> R.28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> R.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> **R**.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> R.16. This issue is not appealed here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> R.68 at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> R.25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> R.25 at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> R.29 at 1; *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2480 (2014).

search the cell phone—though the police had lawfully seized it.<sup>17</sup> Just as a cell phone contains significant private information, which triggers Fourth Amendment protections, so does analyzing an evidentiary blood sample.<sup>18</sup> In addition, Mr. Ayotte argued that at the time he withdrew his consent to the analysis of his blood sample, the search was ongoing or continuous.<sup>19</sup> Under existing caselaw, where a search is ongoing, a person may withdraw his or her consent.<sup>20</sup> Because Mr. Ayotte withdrew his consent to the analysis of the blood sample, the State's analysis could not be justified through consent and was, therefore, unlawful.<sup>21</sup>

On March 14, 2017, the circuit court ruled on Mr. Ayotte's withdrawal of consent motion. When addressing whether Mr. Ayotte retained a privacy interest in his drawn blood, the court stated, "[a]ny expectation of privacy was waived by his consent."<sup>22</sup> It further stated that because Mr. Ayotte submitted to the blood draw, he could not withdraw consent to its analysis.<sup>23</sup> The court took Mr. Ayotte's argument on withdrawing consent as an attempt to parse seizing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> *Riley*, 134 S. Ct. at 2480.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> R.29 at 2–3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> R.29 at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> R.29 at 3; United States v. Al Dac Ho, 94 F.3d 932, 933–34 (5th Cir. 1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> R.29 at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> R.32 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> R.32 at 7.

sample from analyzing the sample.<sup>24</sup> In other words, the circuit court believed that Mr. Ayotte made a second search argument.<sup>25</sup> According to the court, such an argument would not prevail under *Riedel*.<sup>26</sup> The court also declined to compare analyzing the contents of a lawfully seized cell phone to analyzing a lawfully seized blood sample.<sup>27</sup> In the end, it denied Mr. Ayotte's motion.<sup>28</sup>

Mr. Ayotte took the case to trial. On December 14, 2017, a jury convicted Mr. Ayotte for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, fourth offense.<sup>29</sup> On the same day, the court sentenced Mr. Ayotte.<sup>30</sup>

On May 1, 2018, Mr. Ayotte appealed his conviction to this Court.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> R.32 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> R.32 at 6–7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> R.32 at 7; *see, e.g., State v. VanLaarhoven*, 2001 WI App 275, ¶ 16, 248 Wis. 2d 881, 637 N.W.2d 411 (holding that the testing of the defendant's blood was not a second, separate search requiring a warrant).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> R.32 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> R.32 at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> R.50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> R.71 at 167.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> R.64.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE SEARCH OF MR. AYOTTE'S BLOOD WAS LAWFUL.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether a search is valid under the Fourth Amendment is a question of constitutional law reviewed *de novo*.<sup>32</sup> Appellate courts uphold findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous.<sup>33</sup>

# B. A person has a legitimate privacy interest in their blood.

A staggering amount of personal information can be acquired by the analysis of a sample of blood. The presence of alcohol, drugs, or other chemicals can be detected; as well as genetic information about ancestry, family connections, medical conditions, gender, pregnancy, and genetic profiles suitable for identification purposes. For these reasons, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the chemical analysis of a blood sample is an invasion of an individual's privacy.<sup>34</sup>

The United States Supreme Court has consistently recognized an expectation of privacy in the information contained within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> State v. Guzman, 166 Wis. 2d 577, 586, 48 N.W.2d 446 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis.2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Skinner v. Ry. Labor Executives' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 616 (1989).

biological samples—a privacy interest distinct from the collection of the samples in the first place. In the 1989 case *Skinner v. Railway* 

Labor Executives' Association, the Court explained:

[I]t is obvious that this physical intrusion, penetrating beneath the skin, infringes an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. The ensuing chemical analysis of the sample to obtain physiological data is a further invasion of ... privacy interests.<sup>35</sup>

In 2001, the United States Supreme Court decided the case of *Ferguson v. City of Charleston*, where warrantless drug testing was conducted on lawfully-obtained urine samples.<sup>36</sup> Despite the collection of the urine itself being lawful, the Court, citing to *Skinner*, held that "[T]he urine tests … were *indisputably* searches within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment."<sup>37</sup> The majority opinion states that the analysis of a sample that is lawfully obtained *is* a Fourth-Amendment search.<sup>38</sup>

In Birchfield v. North Dakota, the Supreme Court commented

on the information contained in a blood sample, as distinct from a breath sample:

[A] blood test, unlike a breath test, places in the hands of law enforcement authorities a sample that can be preserved and from which it is possible to extract information beyond a simple BAC reading. Even if the law enforcement agency is precluded from testing the blood for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 73 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Id.* at 76 (emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.* at 73.

any purpose other than to measure BAC, the potential remains and may result in anxiety for the person tested.<sup>39</sup>

The caselaw is unambiguous that individuals have a legitimate and recognized privacy interest in the information contained in their own blood.

The only reasonable interpretation of *Birchfield*'s discussion of privacy interests is that a person retains his or her privacy interest in the blood sample after it has been extracted from his or her body. Moreover, a person retains that privacy interest indefinitely—as long as the sample is in police possession, the potential for the extraction of personal information from the sample remains.

Conversely, the circuit court concluded Mr. Ayotte did not retain a privacy interest in his blood, stating, "[a]ny expectation of privacy was waived by his consent."<sup>40</sup> Relying upon that assertion, it stated Mr. Ayotte could not rely upon his privacy interest to withdraw his consent to testing.<sup>41</sup> However, the circuit court's holding goes against *Birchfield*. Under *Birchfield*, if the *potential* for testing of a blood sample by law enforcement for purposes besides ethanol analysis exists, the anxiety for the subject remains.<sup>42</sup> The circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2178 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> R.32 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> R.32 at 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> 136 S. Ct. at 2178.

court's ruling on the issue of withdrawing consent thus failed to account for *Birchfield*'s position on the privacy interest inherent in blood.

Under existing caselaw, a search occurs for Fourth Amendment purposes whenever the government intrudes upon an individual's "reasonable expectation of privacy."<sup>43</sup> Since Mr. Ayotte had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the information contained in his blood, the analysis of his blood sample was a search.

# C. Because analyzing a blood sample is a search under the Fourth Amendment, a person may withdraw consent to the search at any point.

"One who consents to a search 'may of course delimit as he chooses the scope of the search to which he consents."<sup>44</sup> When consent, previously given, is modified, limited, or withdrawn, this must be done by an unequivocal act or statement.<sup>45</sup> "Withdrawal of consent need not be effectuated through particular 'magic words,' but an intent to withdraw consent must be made by unequivocal act or statement."<sup>46</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 360–61 (1967) (Harlan, J., concurring).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> State v. Matejka, 2001 WI 5, ¶ 37, 241 Wis. 2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891 (quoting *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 252, 111 S. Ct. 1801 (1991)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> State v. Wantland, 2014 WI 58, ¶21, 355 Wis. 2d 135, 848 N.W.2d 810.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> United States v. Sanders, 424 F.3d 768, 774 (8th Cir. 2005) (quoting United States v. Gray, 369 F.3d 1024, 1026 (8th Cir. 2004)); see also United States v. Alfaro, 935 F.2d 64, 67 (5th Cir. 1991); Payton v. Commonwealth, 327 S.W.3d 468, 478 (Ky. 2010).

There is no reason why the search of a blood sample should be treated as categorically different than the search of a cell phone, an automobile, or a dwelling. Consent to an evidentiary chemical blood analysis may be withdrawn, just as one may withdraw consent to any other Fourth-Amendment search. For example, a person might consent to the search of a house but withdraw that consent before the search is completed. As a matter of Fourth Amendment law, it would be unlawful for law enforcement officers to ignore the homeowner withdrawing consent and to remain in the house solely because of the initial, yet retracted, consent.<sup>47</sup>

When the search at issue is the scientific analysis of blood, the duration of the search is typically stretched over days or weeks rather than the minutes or hours that might be involved in the search of a home or automobile. But the relevant time period being longer or shorter does not change the basic legal principles.<sup>48</sup> If a person withdraws his or her consent before the search is completed—whether

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> See e.g. United States v. Buckingham, 433 F.3d 508, 513 (6th Cir. 2006), *Painter v. Robertson*, 185 F.3d 557, 567 (6th Cir. 1999) (holding that upon a revocation of consent the search should be terminated instantly, and the officers should promptly depart the premises).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See United States v. Casellas-Toro, 807 F.3d 380 (1st. Cir. 2015) (where, when the defendant's automobile was searched 21 days after he provided consent, it was held that the search was still justified by the defendant's initial and un-retracted consent).

that is several minutes or several days after consent is initially provided—any search must immediately cease.

In *Schmerber v. California*, a 1966 United States Supreme Court case that addressed a slew of constitutional challenges to a blood draw in an operating while under the influence case, the Court considered the Fourth Amendment in the context of evidentiary blood draws.<sup>49</sup> The *Schmerber* Court found, inter alia, that the Fifth Amendment's right against self-incrimination does not preclude the police from obtaining a blood sample and that the Sixth Amendment did not afford the defendant the right to an attorney prior to the blood sample being collected.<sup>50</sup> But the *Schmerber* Court also held that a blood draw *does* fall within the protection of the Fourth Amendment:

It could not reasonably be argued, and indeed respondent does not argue, that the administration of the blood test in this case was free of the constraints of the Fourth Amendment. Such testing procedures plainly constitute searches of 'persons,' and depend antecedently upon seizures of 'persons,' within the meaning of that Amendment.<sup>51</sup>

The Court then went on to find that the collection of the defendant's blood was a lawful warrantless search because of the existence of exigent circumstances.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 761, 766.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> *Id*. at 767.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Id.* at 770–71.

In Wisconsin, our Supreme Court has very recently affirmed that there is a Fourth-Amendment right to refuse to submit to blood testing. In *State v. Dalton*, the Court explicitly recognized that the defendant's decision to not consent to an evidentiary blood test was protected by the Fourth Amendment.<sup>53</sup> When Mr. Ayotte withdrew his consent to the blood analysis, he was therefore indisputably exercising his Fourth-Amendment rights, which include the right to revoke or modify his consent.<sup>54</sup>

In circuit court, the State argued Mr. Ayotte made a "second search argument."<sup>55</sup> In other words, according to the State, Mr. Ayotte argued testing his blood was a separate and subsequent search; seizing his blood was the first search.<sup>56</sup> According to the State, Mr. Ayotte argued that without a warrant for the second search, i.e. the testing of his blood, the State could not justify analyzing his blood.<sup>57</sup> The State responded by arguing *State v. Riedel* put to rest the proposition that a second warrant was required to justify the testing of a person's lawfully-seized blood.<sup>58</sup> However, Mr. Ayotte did not make a second search argument. His argument in circuit court was that he withdrew

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> State v. Dalton, 2018 WI 85, ¶ 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> State v. Wantland, 2014 WI 58, ¶¶ 33–34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> R.25 at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> R.25 at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> R.25 at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> R.25 at 2.

his (previously given) consent to test his blood. For this reason, there is no need for this Court to delve into the second search argument and the caselaw addressing such claims.

Thus, based upon existing state and federal caselaw, questions of consent to search fall within the scope of the Fourth Amendment. This includes the issue of withdrawing consent to a blood draw, as in Mr. Ayotte's case.

# D. The analysis of seized evidence in which a person retains a legitimate privacy interest must still be justified under the Fourth Amendment.

In *Riley v. California*, the United States Supreme Court addressed the applicability of the warrant requirement to cell phone searches.<sup>59</sup> The question in *Riley* was whether police could analyze the contents of a lawfully-seized cell phone under the Fourth Amendment.<sup>60</sup> The Court recognized that a huge amount of personal information could be stored on or accessed through a cell phone, including information implicating significant privacy concerns, such as medical records.<sup>61</sup> The Court ultimately decided:

[A] warrant is generally required before such a search, even when a cell phone is seized incident to arrest ... Our answer to the question of what police must do before searching a cell phone seized incident to an arrest is accordingly simple—get a warrant.<sup>62</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> *Riley*, 134 S. Ct. at 2480.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Id*. at 2490.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> *Id.* at 2493, 2495.

Analyzing a blood sample, like searching a cell phone, potentially presents privacy implications sufficient to require police to obtain a warrant or to proceed only under a warrant exception to search these items. It is irrelevant that *Riley* involved a search incident to arrest, and Mr. Ayotte initially consented to the analysis of his blood. The foundational legal principle is identical: Even though a piece of evidence is already in police custody, when there is no legal basis for a search, the search is unlawful. Because the government had no legal justification for the blood analysis after Mr. Ayotte withdrew his consent, it was an unlawful search; and the test results should have been suppressed.

Though the circuit court relied upon *State v. Riedel* and, by reference, *State v. Petrone*, to find Mr. Ayotte had no right to withdraw his consent to blood testing, the circuit court's decision was problematic for two reasons.<sup>63</sup> First, neither *Riedel* nor *Petrone* apply to Mr. Ayotte's case. *Riedel* was issued in 2003. Because it was a decision that predated *Riley*, it cannot control here. Moreover, in *Riedel*, the Court of Appeals considered a blood draw justified

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> R.32 at 6; *State v. Riedel*, 2003 WI App 18, 259 Wis. 2d 921, 656 N.W.2d 789; *State v. Petrone*, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991).

through exigent circumstances.<sup>64</sup> Here, the State relied on consent to justify the blood draw.

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