STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

09-21-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP839 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LONNIE P. AYOTTE, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON DECEMBER 15, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARQUETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE BERNARD BULT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Respectfully Submitted,

STATE OF WISCONSIN 77 W. Park St P.O. Box 396 Montello, WI 53949 (608) 297-3020

By: Chad A. Hendee

District Attorney

Marquette County, Wisconsin

State Bar No. 1036138

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

ARGUMENT

This very issue has been dealt with recently by this Court in two cases exactly on point with very different results. There are presently two conflicting holdings and both cases are unpublished: *State v. Sumnicht*, 2018 WI App 8, 909 N.W.2d 210, decided December 20, 2017, by Judge Neubauer in District 2 (A-1); and *State v. Randall*, 2018 WI App 45, 383 Wis.2d 602, decided June 14, 2018, by Judge Kloppenburg in this District (A-6). Both deal with the same issue before the Court here. *Sumnicht* held that the defendant could not withdraw his/her previously-given consent; *Randall* held that the defendant could do so. On July 16, 2018, the State petitioned the Wisconsin Supreme Court for review in *Randall* for this very question that is now unsettled given the conflicting opinions. That petition is still pending as of the filing of this brief.

I. THE SEARCH ENDED WHEN AYOTTE
VOLUNTARILY GAVE A BLOOD SAMPLE, AND A
WARRANT OR CONSENT WAS NOT REQUIRED
FOR THE LAB TO ANALYZE THE BLOOD

One of the main questions before this Court is what constitutes "the search." Ayotte argues and this Court in *Randall* found that the search is a

continuous action from the moment the needle enters a person's skin to draw the blood to the time when an analyst finishes the testing of that sample in a laboratory days later. However, the search for Fourth Amendment purposes ends at the time the blood is drawn from someone in Ayotte's position. This is supported by this Court in *State v*.

VanLaarhoven, which stated that once "the blood sample was lawfully taken," a warrant was not required to analyze the blood. The Court concluded that "law enforcement was permitted to conduct an analysis of VanLaarhoven's blood to determine if it contained evidence of a blood alcohol concentration in excess of the legal limit." *State v. VanLaarhoven*, 2001 WI App 275 ¶ 17, 248 Wis.2d 881, 637 N.W.2d. 411.

The Court in *VanLaarhoven* recognized that "the examination of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant requirement or an exception to the warrant requirement is an essential part of the seizure and does not require a judicially authorized warrant." *VanLaarhoven*, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16.

The Court relied on *State v. Petrone*, 161 Wis.2d 530, 545, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991), in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected the proposition that the State needed a warrant to develop film that it had lawfully seized. The supreme court concluded that "Developing the film did not constitute, as the defendant asserts, a separate, subsequent unauthorized search having an intrusive impact on the defendant's rights wholly independent of the execution of the search warrant." *Id*.

The Court in *VanLaarhoven* also relied on *United States v. Snyder*, 852 F.2d 471 (9th Cir. 1988). In *Snyder*, the defendant moved to suppress the results of a test of blood taken from him after he was arrested for operating while intoxicated, asserting that "the warrantless analysis of the blood sample was an unreasonable search." *VanLaarhoven*, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 12 (citing *Snyder*, 852 F.2d at 472). The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals rejected the defendant's assertion, concluding that:

The only justification for the seizure of defendant's blood was the need to obtain evidence of alcohol content. The Court therefore necessarily viewed the right to seize the blood as encompassing the right to conduct a blood-alcohol test at some later time. Accordingly, we are bound to conclude that under *Schmerber*, so long as blood is extracted incident to a valid arrest based on probable cause to believe that the suspect was driving under the influence of alcohol, the subsequent performance of a blood-alcohol test has no independent significance for fourth amendment purposes, regardless of how promptly the test is conducted.

Snyder, 852 F.2d at 473–74 (citing Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 768 (1966)).

The *VanLaarhoven* Court stated that "*Petrone* and *Snyder* teach that the examination of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant requirement or an exception to the warrant requirement is an essential part of the seizure and does not require a judicially authorized warrant." *VanLaarhoven*, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16. The court added that "Both decisions refuse to permit a defendant to parse the lawful seizure of a blood sample into multiple components, each to be given independent significance for purposes of the warrant requirement" *Id*.

This Court took two very different interpretations of *VanLaarhoven* and *Petrone* in *Randall* and *Sumnicht*. In *Sumnicht* the Court concluded that under *VanLaarhoven*, "the search and seizure of the blood was completed at the time of the lawful blood draw." *Sumnicht*, 2018 WI App, ¶ 22. And it concluded that under *Petrone*, "analysis of Sumnicht's blood was simply a method of examining lawfully seized evidence." *Id*.

The *Randall* court's reading of VanLaarhoven would have precisely the opposite effect that the courts intended in *VanLaarhoven*, *Petrone*, *Snyder*, and *State v. Reidel*, 2003 WI App 18, 259 Wis. 2d 921, 656 N.w.2d 789. In each of those cases, the State was not required to obtain a search warrant, or some exception to the warrant requirement, in order to analyze lawfully seized evidence.

Randall's application of VanLaarhoven would have the opposite effect. Whenever a person attempted to withdraw consent to a blood draw after the blood draw but before analysis of the sample, the State would be required to obtain a warrant. And because the implied consent law does not contemplate a need for consent to analyze a blood sample that was lawfully obtained, it does not provide a sanction for refusal to allow analysis. The result would likely be the necessity of a search warrant in every case in which a person consents to give a blood sample under the implied consent law. No case cited by this Court in Randall compels or even contemplates that result.

The analysis of Ayotte's blood in this case was not a separate search requiring either judicial authorization or an exception to the warrant requirement. It was simply the analysis of evidence gathered pursuant to Randall's consent when she submitted a blood sample under the implied consent law.

II. AYOTTE DOES NOT HAVE A PRIVACY INTEREST IN THE BLOOD ONCE IT LEAVES HIS BODY.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

The Fourth Amendment prohibits "unreasonable searches."

Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2173 (2016). But "a search conducted pursuant to a valid consent is constitutionally permissible."

State v. Wantland, 2014 WI 58, ¶20, 355 Wis. 2d 135, 848 N.W.2d 810 (quoting Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 22 (1973)). Under Wisconsin's implied consent law, a person who submits to a request for a sample for testing has consented to the implied consent procedure.

VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶8.

"[T]he taking of a blood sample or the administration of a breath test is a search." *Birchfield*, 136 S.Ct. at 2173 (citing *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assn.*, 489 U.S. 602, 616–617, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 103 L.Ed.2d 639

(1989); Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 767–768, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966)).

But the analysis of a sample that is lawfully obtained is not a constitutional search. As Justice Scalia has stated "it is not even arguable that the testing of urine that has been lawfully obtained is a Fourth Amendment search." *Ferguson v. City of Charleston*, 532 U.S. 67, 92 (2001) (Scalia, J. dissenting).

And in *Petrone*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded that law enforcement officers were entitled to analyze evidence that had been lawfully seized, without the need for a warrant or an exception to the warrant requirement. *Petrone*, 161 Wis. 2d at 545.

Ayotte argues that *Riley v. California*, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) requires that "even though a piece of evidence is already in police custody, when there is no legal basis for a search, the search is unlawful" (Defendant-Appellant Brief, p. 20) But *Riley* does not apply to the analysis of blood and is distinguishable.

Riley concerned a search of cell phones seized from defendants by police incident to an arrest for traffic violations, and an arrest for an apparent drug sale. *Id.* at 2480–82. The Supreme Court noted that when faced with deciding "whether to exempt a given type of search from the warrant requirement" without "more precise guidance from the founding era," it generally makes the determination "by assessing, on the one hand,

the degree to which it intrudes upon an individual's privacy and, on the other, the degree to which it is needed for the promotion of legitimate governmental interests." *Id.* at 2484. The Court noted that in *United States* v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 94 S. Ct. 467 (1973), it held that an officer who conducted a patdown search of a person the officer had arrested found a crumpled cigarette pack in the person's pocket, the officers was entitled to search it. Riley, 134 S.Ct. at 2483, 2488. But the Court concluded that a search of a cell phone discovered incident to arrest was different because cell phones "place vast quantities of personal information literally in the hands of individuals." *Id.* at 2485. It added that "A search of the information on a cell phone bears little resemblance to the type of brief physical search considered in *Robinson*." *Id*. The Supreme Court concluded that the contents of a cell phone carry a significant privacy interest: "With all they contain and all they may reveal, they hold for many Americans 'the privacies of life.'" *Id.* at 2495 (quoted source omitted.) The Court concluded that if police officers want to search a cell phone incident to arrest they must "get a warrant." Id.

Ayotte argues that "a staggering amount of personal information can be acquired by the analysis of a sample of blood" including genetic information, even if this type of deep search could be conducted at a later time. (*See* Defendant-Appellant's Brief, p. 12, 14.) However, this doesn't apply here as the labs don't test the blood for any other thing without

additional probable cause and a warrant. Wisconsin Statute § 343.305 only allows for the testing the blood for the presence of alcohol and drugs.¹

The circumstances in this implied consent case are entirely different from those in *Riley*. First, this is a consent case, not a search incident to arrest case. Second, unlike the privacy interest in a cell phone, the privacy interest in blood after it has been drawn from a person for testing under the implied consent law, with the person's consent, is insignificant. A person has no reasonable privacy interest in the blood.

In *Birchfield*, the Supreme Court recognized that blood tests involve a more significant intrusion on a person's privacy interests that do breath tests. The Court noted that blood tests "require piercing the skin," and extraction of a part of the subject's body." The Court also noted that

a blood test, unlike a breath test, places in the hands of law enforcement authorities a sample that can be preserved and from which it is possible to extract information beyond a simple BAC reading. Even if the law enforcement agency is precluded from testing the blood for any purpose other than to measure BAC, the potential remains and may result in anxiety for the person tested.

Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2178.

But the privacy interests that the Court recognized in regard to blood tests apply only to the blood draw, not to analysis of the blood by a lab. The first privacy interest—the intrusion of a needle into a person's arm—

10

-

¹ Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2) reads in part, "...is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath, of **alcohol, controlled substances**, **controlled substance analogs or other drugs**, or any combination of alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substance analogs and other drugs, when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer..." (emphasis added)

obviously applies only to the blood draw, not to analysis of the sample. The second privacy interest—anxiety about how a law enforcement may use the blood after it has been drawn—concerns what will happen to the blood after it is drawn. But the anxiety a person may feel is at issue in determining whether a law enforcement officer needs a warrant to conduct a blood draw. It is not concerned with whether law enforcement needs a warrant to analyze the sample. Analysis of the blood for the purpose for which it was drawn cannot reasonably result in undue anxiety for the person who submitted to the blood draw.

In a case like this one, a defendant who has submitted to a request for a blood draw, and consented to the implied consent procedure, has no privacy interest in the blood he or she has submitted, at least insofar as it is going to be used for the purpose for which it was drawn—determining the alcohol concentration or presence of illegal drugs in the blood. The person has consented to chemical testing by operating a motor vehicle on a Wisconsin highway. The person has submitted to a blood draw. The blood has been taken. The person no longer has a privacy interest in that blood.

Even if Ayotte could somehow claim that he had a subjective privacy interest in his blood after he submitted the sample, society would not recognize that interest as reasonable. Deputy Ciezadlo lawfully obtained a sample of Ayotte's blood under the implied consent law, so that the concentration of drugs or alcohol in his system could be determined.

This is the bargain Ayotte struck when he drove on a Wisconsin highway, and then, after he was arrested for Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Content, when he chose not to withdraw his consent, but instead to submit to the deputy's request for a sample for testing. It would be entirely unreasonable for Ayotte to have a privacy interest sufficient to withdraw his consent, not to the Fourth Amendment event—the extraction of his blood—but to the testing and analysis of the sample days later.

In contrast, there is a legitimate governmental interest in analyzing blood that has been lawfully drawn under the implied consent law. As the Supreme Court recognized in *Birchfield*, "The States and the Federal Government have a "paramount interest ... in preserving the safety of ... public highways." *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. at 2178 (quoting *Mackey v*. *Montrym*, 443 U.S. 1, 17, 99 S.Ct. 2612, 61 L.Ed.2d 321 (1979)). This must include analyzing blood drawn from a person arrested for operating while under the influence of alcohol or drugs in order to gather evidence.

The requirement of a warrant to analyze blood for alcohol or drugs after a person has consented to the blood draw for testing and analysis, would serve no real purpose. After all, as the Court recognized in *Birchfield*, "In order to persuade a magistrate that there is probable cause for a search warrant, the officer would typically recite the same facts that led the officer to find that there was probable cause for arrest, namely, that there is probable cause to believe that a BAC test will reveal that the

motorist's blood alcohol level is over the limit." *Id.* at 2181. In a case like this one, a magistrate would have to find only that there is probable cause that blood a person consented to give after being arrested for an OWI-related offense, based on probable cause, contains evidence of alcohol or illegal drugs. It is difficult to envision a scenario where a magistrate would not issue a warrant to analyze blood that a person gave consensually, under the implied consent law, after a proper request form a law enforcement officer.

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